
Date Published: 12 July 2021     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 20 July 2021 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Election of Chairperson Andrea Clarke

2  Election of Vice Chairperson Chairperson

3  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

4  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

5  Minutes of the previous meeting Andrea Clarke

6  Public Questions 

To answer any written questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 13 July 
2021. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 
 

Chairperson

7  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 13 July 2021. Please send questions to the Chief 
Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairperson

8  ICS Changes update 

The Board to receive a presentation. 

Mary Hutton

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

9  Health Inequalities Update (Pages 1 - 8) Siobhan Farmer

10  Child Friendly Gloucestershire (Pages 9 - 30) Dame Janet 
Trotter

11  ACEs Update (Pages 31 - 40) ACC Rhiannon 
Kirk

12  Update on the implementation of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(Pages 41 - 54)

Professor Sarah 
Scott

Membership – Keith Gerrard (Stroud District Council), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group), ACC Rhiannon Kirk (Representing the Chief Constable), Darren Knight 
(Cheltenham Borough Council), Deborah Lee (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), 
PCC Chris Nelson (Police and Crime Commissioner), David Owen (GFirstLEP), Rachel Pearce 
(NHS England), Dr Teresa Pietroni (Primary Care), Angela Potter (Gloucestershire Health and Care 
NHS Foundation Trust), Nikki Richardson (Healthwatch Gloucestershire), Gavin Roberts (Assistant 
Chief Fire Officer), Ruth Saunders (Gloucester City Council), Professor Sarah Scott (Executive 
Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health), Dr Andy Seymour (Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer (Director of Children's Services), Peter Tonge (Tewkesbury 
Borough Council), Rob Weaver (Cotswold District Council) and Peter Williams (Forest of Dean 
District Council) Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Tim Harman and 
Cllr Kathy Williams

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Health inequalities update

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information and decision

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Public Health and Adult 
Social Care

Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health 
Sue Weaver, Head of Commissioning (Health Improvement)

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council 
Key Issues:  
COVID-19 has exposed and amplified the health inequalities that were already 
persistent in the county.  It has presented a new imperative for effective action 
on health inequalities and an opportunity to ‘build back fairer’ and to ‘level up’. 

There is already a strategic commitment to action on health inequalities in 
Gloucestershire and a considerable amount of activity underway. 

On the 16th March 2021, a paper on Health inequalities in Gloucestershire: 
COVID-19 and Beyond was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
This paper provides an update on progress made in tackling health 
inequalities. 

Recommendations to Board: 

The Board is invited to:

1. Consider the developing programme of work on health inequalities.
2. Approve the proposal to run a virtual event this autumn to launch the 

Gloucestershire Anchors Partnership Programme.
3. Comment on the proposal to extend the scope of the local anchor 

institutions work to include local businesses and voluntary 
organisations.

Financial/Resource Implications: 
None identified 

Page 1

Agenda Item 9



Health inequalities update – July 2021

1. Background
COVID-19 has exposed and amplified the health inequalities that were already persistent in 
the county.  It has presented a new imperative for effective action on health inequalities and 
an opportunity to ‘build back fairer’ and to ‘level up’. 

There is already a strategic commitment to action on health inequalities in Gloucestershire 
and a considerable amount of activity underway. 

On the 16th March 2021, a paper on Health inequalities in Gloucestershire: COVID-19 and 
Beyond was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board. This paper provides an update 
on progress made in tackling health inequalities. 

2. Addressing health inequalities through the COVID-19 response

2.1 Vaccine Equity 
The first aim for the NHS COVID vaccination programme has been to reduce severe illness 
and death from COVID-19 by prioritising those who are most clinically vulnerable, either due 
to age, co-morbidities or other vulnerabilities, e.g. where they live. The COVID-19 
vaccination programme has moved at an exceptional pace with more than 85% of adults in 
Gloucestershire having received their first dose of vaccine, with everyone over 18 now being 
invited to book their vaccine.

Monitoring inequalities in vaccine uptake has been a priority since the programme began, 
through the Vaccinations Equity Programme. The purpose is to support equitable uptake of 
COVID-19 vaccinations across the population of Gloucestershire; both critical for helping to 
mitigate against COVID-19 related health inequalities and protecting the wider community 
from the virus.

There are various influences on individual decision making and vaccine hesitancy. These 
include access and method of invitation and delivery of the vaccine, individual risk versus 
benefit decision making, trust in health and care services, as well as their own experiences 
of COVID-19. As a system, the NHS Vaccination programme and partners have been 
working closely with communities to understand barriers to uptake and increase accessibility 
to and confidence in the vaccine. 

To date various activities have taken place to encourage and enable uptake, including;
 Engagement with religious leaders in the community 
 Collaboration with the Learning Disabilities Clinical Programme and Partnership boards 

and Intensive Outreach Team (IHOT) to support people with learning disabilities to their 
vaccination

 In-reach to mental health inpatients and homelessness settings to deliver vaccination 
 Clinics hosted by GARAS and CGH for asylum seekers and rough sleepers

Page 2



 Contact with care homes with uptake lower than 85% to signpost to the programme, to 
discuss barriers to uptake and support managers with having vaccine conversations 
with staff

 Walk-in clinics hosted in Primary Care Network delivery sites
 ‘Walking the street’ by Gloucestershire Health and Care (GHC) staff to undertake 

community engagement
 Development of resources for employers
 Engagement with traveller sites and survey of uptake
 Development of ‘pop-up’ community clinics when a need is identified including in 

Cheltenham mosque and the Friendship Café in Gloucester.

2.2 Community testing - targeting under-represented and 
disproportionately impacted groups

Community testing was launched in November 2020 to break the chains of transmission by 
identifying asymptomatic cases of COVID-19 using rapid Lateral Flow Device (LFD) tests. 

Over time, the testing landscape has rapidly evolved and the community testing model has 
changed to reflect this. Nationally, the post June community testing strategy has moved 
away from a universal testing approach to one which will increasingly support and 
encourage Local Authorities to focus on under-represented and disproportionality impacted 
groups.  

In Gloucestershire, a targeted approach has been developed using more agile and flexible 
testing models to reach particular communities. For example, mobile outreach teams have 
been deployed and work is underway with the voluntary and community sector to establish 
new collection points to increase accessibility to home testing kits. 

3. Beyond COVID-19: Building a community centred, whole system 
approach

The evidence on reducing health inequalities calls for a community-centred, whole system 
response. This brings multiple stakeholders together to develop a shared understanding of 
the challenges and to integrate action to bring about change1. This should include effective 
action to tackle the social, economic and environmental determinants of health as well as 
embedding proportionate universalism across local provision2. 

Key elements of this approach include:
i. Establishing a vision and principles 
ii. Involving communities 
iii. Strengthening capacity and capability 
iv. Scaling practice 
v. Sustaining outcomes.

1. Stansfield J, South J, Mapplethorpe T. What are the elements of a whole system approach to community-centred public 
health? A qualitative study with public health leaders in England’s local authority areas. BMJ Open 2020;10:e036044. 
doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2019-036044

2 https://www.health.org.uk/publications/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review 

Page 3

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review


The remainder of this paper summarises some examples of progress already made against 
the first four of these key elements. However, sustaining outcomes and building a truly 
‘community-centred, whole system approach’ to reducing health inequalities requires culture 
change and will take time. 

3.1 Establishing a vision and principles – Health Inequalities Panel
Whilst there is a wide range of activity locally on tackling health inequalities, this activity 
needs to be brought together strategically into a more coherent whole. The Health 
Inequalities Panel has now been established and held an initial meeting in June. 

The strategic objectives of the panel are to: 
1. Identify, coordinate and align current action on health inequalities; ensuring priorities for 

strengthening this work are agreed, impact is monitored and learning is shared
2. Develop a sustainable, community-centred, whole systems approach to reducing health 

inequalities.

The terms of reference for the Panel are under development and will reflect its broad remit; 
covering the work of Gloucestershire ICS and Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board.  

The initial priority for the Panel is to provide a place where strategic objective 1 is taken 
forward. At the same time the Healthier Communities Together programme, which is 
independent from the Panel, will provide opportunities to listen, test and learn to inform the 
development of strategic objective 2. 

The responsibilities of the Panel are to: 
 Provide oversight and support for the work on health inequalities in Gloucestershire
 Build momentum, interest and capability in health inequalities in Gloucestershire
 Provide clarity on Gloucestershire health inequalities approach and priorities
 Develop an understanding of key assets and activity on health inequalities in in order to 

provide support where needed 
 Support evidence-based practice on health inequalities including effective action on the 

wider determinants of health 
 Provide direction and support to key programme enablers e.g. engagement and 

communications, workforce development and intelligence
 Provide a coordinating forum for personnel leading on key health inequalities projects 

and programmes across the system
 Monitor progress and impact at a system level
 Create opportunities to bring different parts of the ‘system’ together to share 

perspectives, good-practice and learning.  

The Panel will report to the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board and the ICS 
Executive.  

The Healthier Communities Together work will need to link across to the Health Inequalities 
Panel to inform the vision and principles. 

Page 4



3.2 Involving communities – Healthier Communities Together

3.2.1 Background
The Healthier Communities Together programme forms part of efforts by The King’s Fund to 
improve health and care for people with the poorest health outcomes. It also builds on The 
National Lottery Community Fund’s (TNLCF) expertise in place-based funding, which aims 
to support local areas to develop effective and sustainable partnerships between the 
voluntary and community sector, the NHS and local authorities to improve health and 
wellbeing, reduce health inequalities and empower communities. 

Gloucestershire is one of six areas across the country to be selected to participate in phase 
one of King’s Fund and TNLCF Healthy Communities Together programme. The programme 
is currently in phase one, which runs for nine months from February 2021. 

In Gloucestershire, an Enabling Active Communities and Individuals (EAC-I) based 
partnership has been developing plans and testing approaches as part of the Healthier 
Communities Together programme. This has included looking to create new ways of 
engaging with communities and a new approach to delivering and developing services - our 
'Gloucestershire Way'. This is about rethinking our approach and how we collaborate, not 
just with our current EAC-I partnership but with an extended group.

These plans will be implemented in phase two, aiming to transform the way communities, 
voluntary organisations, the NHS and local authorities work together in Gloucestershire. 
Phase two will last for three years from 2022 to 2024.

Grants from TNLCF will enable Gloucestershire to develop capacity for working together and 
support participation from community organisations. In addition, The King’s Fund will provide 
sustained support to partnerships throughout the Healthy Communities Together 
programme, helping and challenging them to work together in new ways and to foster 
stronger relationships.

3.2.2 Progress
The initial bid-writing team has now formed a steering group. The Barnwood Trust has 
agreed to act as the fundholding organisation on behalf of the partners with a Partnership 
Agreement established. The evolving focus of the work includes:

 Mapping our connections and connectivity
 Data/insight 
 Using case studies 
 Defining a clear narrative for the change desired (relational; structural; capacity) 

3.2.3 Next steps
 Steering Group partners to conduct exploratory conversations
 Continue mapping 
 Additional research and engagement 
 Stakeholder programme delivery
 Further refine Theory of Change
 Prepare for stage two bid

Page 5



The ongoing learning from this work will contribute to the overall objective to develop a 
sustainable, community-centred, whole systems approach to reducing health inequalities.

3.3 Strengthening capacity and capability
COVID-19 has undoubtedly shone a light on health inequalities. We quickly saw evidence of 
a disproportionate impact on COVID-19 infections of different parts of society. There is a 
need to act quickly to ensure that learning from the pandemic informs action to address 
health inequalities.

The COVID-19 Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) budget has provided the opportunity to 
fund additional capacity and strengthen capability across the system. This includes the 
following:

3.3.1 Health Inequalities Outcome Manager and Facilitator posts
These are two new fixed term posts, which will support the development and delivery of a 
system-wide programme of work to understand and address the long-term impact of COVID-
19 on health inequalities. This dedicated officer resource within Gloucestershire County 
Council will drive forward the work to ensure that Gloucestershire responds promptly and 
coherently to increasing health inequalities during the remainder of the pandemic, the 
recovery period and beyond.

The aim of this programme of work is to honour and expand on long-standing commitments 
to tackle the root causes of health inequalities. This requires moving at the pace required to 
embed the lessons learned from the COVID-19 pandemic across the local system and to 
ensure that health inequalities have a higher priority in the future. The posts will help develop 
an understanding of what is needed to embed action on health inequalities in a sustainable 
way across the system. 

3.3.2 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (ED&I) capacity and capability
Two additional posts have been funded to specifically build capacity around minimising the 
impact of COVID-19 on certain minority ethnic groups.  One of the posts will focus on 
delivering the recommendations of the Director of Public Health (DPH) Annual Report 
‘Beyond COVID-19: Race, Health and Inequality in Gloucestershire’. The other post provides 
a dedicated resource for developing the Gloucestershire County Council equality and 
diversity work. This will work closely with the Employee Networks. 

3.3.3 COVID-19 Compliance and Health Inequalities in Barton and Tredworth
This involves establishing a task force of Officers specifically focusing on Barton and 
Tredworth to tackle health inequalities. This will provide a 12 month ‘super focus’ to create a 
breakthrough and provide better insights of how to tackle health inequalities and improve 
COVID compliance in a sustainable way, using behavioural insights.

The task force will involve additionally funded posts including two Private Sector Housing 
Officers focusing on housing conditions, one Environmental Officer focusing on waste and fly 
tipping, and a Project Coordinator, to lead the work and support engagement and 
communication.

Page 6



3.3.4 Community champions
The COVID-19 Community Champions scheme was launched in response to the rising 
cases of Coronavirus in the Barton and Tredworth area of Gloucester and is now made up of 
more than 150 volunteers mainly from the Barton & Tredworth, and Matson and Robinswood 
areas of Gloucester.

Recognising the importance of trusted relationships, and information and feedback flows 
between local communities; the Community Champion network has worked collaboratively 
with Gloucestershire County Council and key partners, providing intelligence from their 
communities and disseminating key information to their communities. 

There is the potential for the role of the Community Champion to evolve and for this local 
capability to be strengthened. There are plans now to offer the Community Champions the 
choice of signing up to an online learning ‘Health Improvement’ course provided by the 
Royal Society for Public Heath. Each of the courses offers the option to learn without an 
assessment or to gain the official qualification and certificate following the completion of an 
eAssessment. These courses on offer aim to provide the learner with an understanding of: 

 How inequalities in health may develop and what the current policies are for 
addressing these

 How effective communication can support health messages
 How to promote improvements in health and wellbeing to individuals
 The impact of change on improving an individual's health and wellbeing.

3.4 Scaling practice – anchor institutions

3.4.1 Background
The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board have pledged to adopt an ‘anchor 
institution’ approach to support the local economy and contribute to reducing health 
inequalities. Anchor institutions are typically large, non-profit organisations like hospitals, 
local authorities and universities, whose long-term sustainability is tied to the wellbeing of 
their local communities.

This approach capitalises on the substantial economic leverage these organisations have; 
as employers, purchasers of goods and services, land and asset owners and community 
leaders. Anchor institutions are significant stewards of public resources and often have 
duties to deliver social value.  These characteristics means they are well placed to positively 
influence the social, economic and environmental determinants of health within their local 
communities. 

Nationally, NHS England and NHS Improvement are developing the ‘NHS as an anchor 
institution work programme’ and are continuing to build a picture of examples of good 
practice. The Health Foundation has launched the ‘health anchors learning network’, which 
is free to access by NHS and other organisations. 

3.4.2 Progress 
Locally, a set of principles outlining what anchor institutions in Gloucestershire are, and how 
they can support the health inequalities agenda, were signed off by the Board in March. A 
mapping exercise has identified many excellent examples of anchor institution activity in 

Page 7



Gloucestershire, including policies and initiatives around employment and training, inclusive 
economic growth, social value and leadership. 

3.4.3 Next steps
It is proposed that we run a virtual event in the autumn to launch the Gloucestershire 
Anchors Partnership Programme. The intended participants would be Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Board and ICS Board members and representatives from member 
organisations. It would serve as a call to action, an opportunity to share local and national 
examples of good practice and to gather views about how we can collectively maximise the 
benefits from this approach.

The Board is requested to consider broadening the definition and scope of the local 
programme to include other organisations, for example, long-established local businesses 
and some of the larger established local VCSE organisations that function as anchors within 
their communities. While moving away from the ‘official’ definition of anchor institutions as 
largely non-profit organisations, the anticipated benefits would be the opportunity to build on 
the relationships that these organisations have within their local communities and the added 
value of a wider range of perspectives and the additional economic leverage of these 
organisations. 

4. Conclusions
This paper outlines examples of how health inequalities are directly tackled through the 
COVID-19 response and the progress also made against building a community centred, 
whole system approach. The paper does not attempt to capture all of the work across the 
system which addresses health inequalities. However, the newly formed Panel will aim to 
provide this system wide oversight in the future. 

Page 8



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report title Update on Child Friendly Gloucestershire  - Children’s Wellbeing 
Coalition.

Item for decision or 
information?

For information

Sponsor Janet Trotter: Chair CFG Children’s Wellbeing Coalition
Andy Dempsey: Lead Officer CFG

Author Janet Trotter
Organisation Gloucestershire Child Friendly Coalition (CFG)

Key Issues:

The Child Friendly Gloucestershire Initiative has drawn together a diverse, cross-sector 
collation of partners with a shared commitment towards promoting the wellbeing of 
children and young people in Gloucestershire.   

The Children’s Wellbeing Coalition is the strategic group that will drive the agenda 
forward being in turn accountable to the Health and Wellbeing Board, acknowledging 
the latter’s focus on wellbeing of the whole population.  It is, in effect, a reconstituted 
Children’s Partnership for the county, albeit with a broader range of partners than 
previously, working collectively to ensure our children and young people have the best 
start in life and are able to thrive and grow up safe, happy and healthy.  It operates 
alongside Gloucestershire’s Safeguarding Children Partnership (GSCP) with its focus on 
the efficacy of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements across the county.

Covid has been a major factor impacting on progress, however the Wellbeing Coalition 
has now been established and met virtually on four occasions (2 pre-meetings and 2 
formal).  Coalition members include statutory, voluntary, charitable, faith and business 
partners, together with 3 external members.  It has also begun to progress the three 
initial workstreams previously agreed. 

Establishing the identity and purpose of the Children’s Wellbeing Coalition has been 
particularly challenging within the constraints imposed by Covid and the related inability 
to engage key partners and stakeholders directly.  This will be increasingly significant 
over time if we are to achieve the aim of the Wellbeing Coalition in becoming the 
strategic focal point for the development services and activity that impact on the 
wellbeing and children and young people and achieve a greater synergy of purpose and 
impact.  With that in mind, the attached brochure (Appendix 1) has been developed as a 
key piece of material to assist in forging a shared understanding of role and purpose.  It 
outlines:

- the current membership of the Coalition

- the key promises made to young people as a result of consultation

- issues related to engagement with young people (to be consulted upon)

- three major pieces of work on which the Coalition will work initially (pre 0-5 years: 
mental health: transition to work)

The Brochure attached at Appendix 1 remains in draft and the views of the Coalition are 
sought on any final amendments or changes that might be needed prior to its adoption 
as a key piece of promotional material.  In time it will also be supported by an action 

Page 9

Agenda Item 10



plan and data dashboard to provide the Coalition with an insight into progress  against 
key priorities.

The Chair of Gloucestershire’s Children’s Wellbeing Coalition was recently invited to 
speak to the House of Lords Public Services Committee who are currently exploring 
how local agencies are collaborating to meet the needs of vulnerable families and 
children in the Covid/post Covid world.  It was evident from those discussions that 
having a coherent, joined up local strategy is a critical success factor, a point further 
emphasised in recent work carried out by the LGA and The Case for Change: the 
independent review of children’s social care.

Recommendations to the Board:

The Coalition is invited:

i) to  endorse the Coalition’s current direction of travel

ii) provide comments on the draft Brochure and give delegation to the Coalition 
Chair to make any final changes prior to its adoption.

Financial/Resource Implications:

  There are no direct financial or resource implications at this stage however there will be 
a need for support resources to enable the Coalition, and any sub groups which may be 
established, to function effectively as we progress.  An update report on this will be 
brought to a future coalition meeting.  

Page 10



WORKING
TOGETHER TO
CREATE A CHILD
FRIENDLY
GLOUCESTERSHIRE

O U R  V I S I O N

2 0 2 1

Page 11



Dr
aftThe vision and aims of the work of Child Friendly Gloucestershire

The Terms of Reference of the Coalition
Approaches to engaging the diverse voices of children and young people
The three major workstreams which the Coalition will prioritise in its first year
and their remits
The Membership of the Coalition

The launch set out the commitment to putting the child and young person at the
centre of future work in the county and set up a Coalition for the Wellbeing of
Children and Young People. The Coalition is designed to draw on cross-sectoral skills
and experience within the county and take forward the strategic agenda.
 
This brochure sets out:

Covid has impacted on our ability to progress with the Coalition but has also served
to exemplify the importance of place and local relations: the Coalition aims to
capitalise on that on the lessons learned. 

We are committed to engaging with as many young people and parents as possible,
together with different interest groups in the county.  We invite you to engage with
us on a diverse range of areas from transport to climate change and from safety to
equality. We need everyone’s voice to help us with an ambitious, transformative
agenda.
 
To rise to the challenge collectively, we will be challenged to find new ways of
working together and different collaborative models in order to enhance our work
with, and for, children and young people.

AN INTRODUCTION

P A G E  0 1

Child Friendly Gloucestershire launched in
December 2020 with the commitment of
representatives of faith, statutory, voluntary and
business organisations. 

The Child Friendly movement is rooted in the
United Nations Charter for the Rights of the Child
and locally it is located in Section 10 of the 2004
Children’s Act which gives responsibility to the
County Council to ensure the health and wellbeing
of all children and young people.

FROM DAME JANET TROTTER, CHAIR

Page 12



Dr
aft

OUR VISION

P A G E  0 2

Based on our conversations and feedback from young people, a vision
for a child friendly Gloucestershire was drafted.  This has since been
approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board.

All children and young people have access to safe affordable
transport: 

This will involve working to develop the capability for children
and young people to make safe journeys and travel around the
county on an accessible, sustainable and affordable basis. 

All children and young people are happy and able to have fun
growing up:

Working to ensure there are a good range of accessible and affordable
recreational and cultural activities for children and young people.

All children and young people are able to contribute to making
Gloucestershire a sustainable county: 

Working to ensure that children and young people in the county
are able to make a meaningful contribution towards tackling the
climate crisis.

All children and young people enjoy the economic and social
benefits of growth:

Collective work to promote the interests of, and provide
opportunities for, the most vulnerable children and young people in
the county.

Page 13



Dr
aft

All children and young people are supported to choose healthy
lifestyles: 

O U R

P R O M I S E

All children and young people do well at all stages of learning and
are equipped with the skills for life in the 21st Century:

P A G E  0 3

All children and young people are safe from harm: 

This will involve purposeful cross sector work to ensure we have a
local education offer that is inclusive and restorative in its approach
by actively addressing the barriers preventing all young people from
engaging in and achieving through learning.  This encompasses the
skills and knowledge necessary for young people to engage in the
dynamic and changing labour market of the 21st Century.

This will involve concerted action to address the concerns about
personal safety expressed by young people through the child friendly
county and other recent consultation exercises. This encompasses
safety, both actual and perceived, in the physical realm, including
places to gather and socialise, and within the digital space.  Some
children also raised concerns about safety in the home.

This will involve purposeful work to ensure we have an accessible health
offer that addresses the physical, mental and emotional well being
needs of children and young people across the county.

Alongside our Workstreams, we are working
with groups across the county who have an
interest or an involvement with one or more of
these promises. We hope to grow this
involvement over the coming months.

Page 14



HOW WE WILL WORK

P A G E  0 4

The Coalition sits within a wider governance framework for the county.

Dr
aft

The Coalition is a partnership of organisations with a willingness and commitment,
both individually and collectively, to support young people in their development.It is
accountable to the Health and Wellbeing Board and forms part of the county’s wider
governance framework. 

The Child Friendly Gloucestershire initiative brings together a diverse range of
organisations from the faith, voluntary, commercial and statutory sectors to secure
the wellbeing of all children and young people in the county. 

The overarching aim is for Gloucestershire to become a ‘child friendly county’, within
which all partners view children and young people as an asset to be valued and
nurtured for the future, as part of Leadership Gloucestershire’s 2050 Vision.

Section 10 of the Children Act (2004) imposes a duty on the Director of Children’s
Services (DCS) and Lead Member for Children’s Services (LMCS) to co-ordinate the
work of local partners to secure the health and wellbeing of children and young
people. The Coalition provides a mechanism for those duties to be realised and is
distinct from, and complementary to, multi-agency work to safeguard children and
young people which is led by Gloucestershire’s Safeguarding Children Partnership
(GSCP)

Working with young people and listening to their diverse voices
Achieving change for the benefit of all of the county’s children and young people
Equality of opportunity for all of the county’s children and young people
Collaboration and mutual support/respect
Building trust between coalition partners
Openness, transparency and accountability
Honesty and integrity

The work of the Coalition will be underpinned by the following principles:

Information sharing and the management of data will be in accordance with the
following:

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/104963/Information-Sharing
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/dataprotection

Operating Principles

Page 15

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/104963/Information-Sharing
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/dataprotection


Dr
aft

Develop an annual action plan for defined areas for work, expected outcomes
and timescales for completion and resource requirements.

Provide a co-ordinating link to the wider network of groups, plans and strategies
for children and young people in the county. 

Provide regular reports on progress to the Health and Welling Board.

Establish working groups to achieve its aims or work through existing groups as
appropriate – The first three priority areas are: mental health; pre-birth to 5
years; and transition from school to college/work. Each Working Group will have
separate written TORs.

Explore issues of concern referred to it by coalition partners.

Establish consultative arrangements with children and young people to ensure
their views inform the work of the coalition and explore whether positive change
is achieved.

Develop a communications plan and ensure key partners are informed about
and involved in the work of the coalition.

Develop a data dashboard and participate in benchmarking activities to ensure
systems are demonstrably improving and the aims of the coalition are being met.

Establish national and international links to draw-in expertise and best practice.

Maintain a risk register to understand and mitigate threats to progress;
supported by exception reporting on a regular basis so that risks are debated
and provision agreed for them to be well managed.

The Coalition will:

P A G E  0 5

Operating Principles

Page 16



Dr
aft

L E A D E R S H I P  G L O U C E S T E R S H I R E

V i s i o n  f o r  t h e  c o u n t y

S t e e r i n g  G r o u p

D i r e c t o r  o f  P a r t n e r s h i p s

&  S t r a t e g y

P r o j e c t  S u p p o r t  O f f i c e r

D a t a  A n a l y t i c s

A d m i n  s u p p o r t

S u b g r o u p s  a n d  
T a s k  &  F i n i s h

g r o u p s
t o  a d d r e s s  k e y

t h e m e s  a n d
a c t i v i t i e s

H E A L T H  &  W E L L B E I N G  B O A R D

H e a l t h  a n d  w e l l b e i n g  o f
t h e  w h o l e  p o p u l a t i o n

H e a l t h  a n d  w e l l b e i n g  o f  a l l  c h i l d r e n  a n d
y o u n g  p e o p l e  ( p r e - b i r t h  t o  1 8  ( 2 5 + ) )

P r i o r i t y  P r o j e c t s
P r e - b i r t h  t o  5
T r a n s i t i o n  t o
e m p l o y m e n t / F E
M e n t a l  H e a l t h
 

O v e r s i g h t  &
a s s u r a n c e

o f  a l l  e x i s t i n g
p a r t n e r s h i p s  a n d

p l a n s  f o r  C Y P

P A G E  0 6

The Coalition sits within a wider governance framework for the county.

C H I L D  F R I E N D L Y  C O A L I T I O N

E n g a g e m e n t  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n s  w i t h  C Y P
W o r k  w i t h  y o u t h  r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s
F u t u r e  M e  d i g i t a l  p l a t f o r m
S p e c i f i c / t h e m a t i c  c o m m s  a c t i v i t y
F e e d b a c k  f r o m  C Y P  a r o u n d  i m p a c t  a n d  c h a n g e

GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

Page 17



Dr
aft

OUR PARTNERSHIP

The Child Friendly Coalition brings together a broad and diverse range of
agencies from across all sectors, with a shared commitment to
improving outcomes for children and young people in the county.

It is this breadth and diversity that is its strength in enabling it to develop a
comprehensive appreciation of activity and its effetiveness.  A further feature is our
commitment to establish an authentic and evolving dialogue with children and young
poeple to inform our work.

P A G E  0 7Page 18



P A G E  0 8 Page 19



Dr
aft

Future Me was inspired by Gloucestershire
County which has committed to supporting Child
Friendly Gloucestershire.

develop a digital platform to engage in dialogue with a diverse range
of young people.

engage in networking with other youth groups in the county to
promote collaborative activities.

undertake a project which maps the provision of all youth services
across Gloucestershire. 

support a group of youth leaders who want to engage in the
development of a child friendly county and have links to a range of
young people in the county.

undertake innovative work better to understand the voices of young
children and their families and to engage with them on the
development of services.

P A G E  0 9

It comprises a cohort of youth representatives who are from diverse backgrounds
and who have grown up in Gloucestershire.

They provide a dedicated resource to assist the Coalition in engaging and consulting
with young people on Child Friendly priorities, in a similar manner to that delivered
by the Young Ambassadors for our Children in Care.

Our engagement work will embed young people in all our work programmes so that
they have an opportunity to help shape services for children and young people. 
 Additionally, we will:

We have already consulted many young people in the county but in the
coming months we will be building on and embedding the voice of young
people in every aspect of our work.

PROMOTING YOUNG
PEOPLE'S VOICES

Page 20



OUR INITIAL WORK

PROGRAMMES

Dr
aft

Alongside the strategic objectives set out in Our Vision, we have
identified some immediate priorities for action.  

These reflect the views of children and young people, the emerging evidence of the
extent and nature of the impact of Covid and key aspects of our performance.

All working groups will capture the voices of young people and will involve statutory,
voluntary business and faith organisations working in partnership.

P A G E  1 0

Pre-birth to 5 years

Obtaining and collating feedback from parents to reflect their
experience of living in Gloucestershire, the support available to them,
the barriers to support and gaps.
Understanding and providing support to address the impact of Covid on
young children and their families.
Scoping all existing universal provision across the county.  Share with
those providers data and information about outcomes for children
across the county, seeking engagement to work collaboratively to deliver
effective universal support through existing provision, providing training
and resources where needed.
Exploring ways to ensure that we can engage with the most hard to
reach families in a way that is supportive and non-threatening,
including improved engagement with Dads.
Increasing the take-up of 2-year old childcare offer (from 71% to 75%
over next year) and 2-year old Health Visitor development checks to
identify additional support needs early - both of these metrics offer the
opportunity to identify children who may be falling behind/in need of
additional support.

Our aim is to understand the experience and challenges for families
with young children and make sure we have a robust offer of universal
provision across the county to support families at the earliest
opportunity. We will bring together all interested and relevant parties
and work alongside each other to improve outcomes for young
children.

We will do this by:

Page 21



P A G E  1 1

Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing

Dr
aft

Focus on Gloucester City and particularly where inequalities are
impacting on families mental wellbeing.
Link to the Trailblazer programme and offer all schools connected with
the work an audit together with training opportunities to develop a
whole school approach.
Extend existing fuel poverty and energy efficiency projects into the
Trailblazer programme.
Explore data/information sources on deprivation and pupils in schools
combined with health population management data.
Implement a digital solution which helps to get the right mental health
support to people at the right time, which encourages them to feel more
in control of their journey and provides support to people while waiting
for treatment.
Select a few schools and GP practices to trial a pilot project on
enhancing links between the two.
Work with schools, communities, VCSE and statutory partners to use the
skill and experience of each sector to improve outcomes by
collaboration.
Consider afresh appropriate management structures for such
innovative, cross sectoral activity.
Evaluate and learn from best practice so appropriate projects can be
developed elsewhere in the county.

We will be taking a 'place-based' approach to this work stream: the
project will be community-centred and holistic and will seek both to
improve mental wellbeing and enhance health equality for children and
young people.

The work will:

Overall this project will draw together a number of separate and
discreet initiatives into an integrated programme with clear
accountabilities.

Page 22



P A G E  1 2

Transition from education to business or Further Education

Dr
aft

Listening to the experiences of young people in the County -
through their involvement in the workstream and through relevant
surveys/research methods.
Working with schools, colleges and alternative provision and
careers support and work experience providers to share feedback
on the needs of young people, good practice and local and national
resources to influence the quality and scope of these programmes.
Co-creating with young people more effective careers support and
work experience programmes in the County.

We will review what works and what doesn't work in terms of careers
support and work experience for young people in Gloucestershire.  We
will then use this information to improve careers support and work
experience programmes for young people in the County so that they
are better prepared to make the transition into work.

We will do this by:

Page 23



P A G E  1 3Page 24



Dr
aft

FOUNDING MEMBERS

OF THE COALITION

P A G E  1 4

We have a diverse group of individuals from a wide range of
organisations who make up our Coalition Board.

As a parent of two children who have come through the school
and college system in Gloucestershire, I understand the
importance of making sure young people are supported
through their schooling and beyond.In my current role, I'm
responsible for the work of the Gloucestershire Careers Hub
which brings schools, colleges and alternative provision
together to work with business and employer organisations to
inspire young people and help them make sound career
choices. I am hoping I can help the Coalition develop this
further and ensure all young people get the help they need to
make the right choices for them.

Peter Carr, Director of Emplyment and Skills, GLep

My passion and drive is simple: I want to see all young people
reach their potential. In my role with Young Gloucestershire I
work with disadvantaged young people aged 11 to 25 who are
facing challenges in their lives. Alongside this I also lead
Infobuzz, a county-wide organisation which offers therapeutic
and practical support for families and young people with
complex needs. For me, this is more than a job and you will
often find me raising money for Young Gloucestershire in my
spare time. I am hoping to bring this passion to the Coalition
and ensure the voices of all young people are heard.

Tracy Clark, Chief Executive Officer, Young
Gloucestershire/Infobuzz

Lord Michael Bichard
We have said for many decades that ‘every child
matters’.However, we continue to ignore their voice in the
decision making process. I am delighted to be part of this
Coalition which seeks to do just that, put the voice of our
children and young people at the heart of our work. In doing
so, we can seek to affect real and meaningful change. 

Like so many of my Coalition colleagues, I believe children and
young people deserve the best start in life. As a grandfather, I
can see how important it is to ensure that the voice of the
youngest members of our communities are captured and
heard. Having always worked in Information Technology, I can
see the opportunities the digital world presents in engaging
effectively with children and young people.

Cllr Stephen Davis, Cabinet Member for Children’s
Safeguarding and Early Years

Page 25



P A G E  1 5

Dr
aft

For me, Child Friendly Gloucestershire is more than a Board. As
a hands-on Head Teacher at a Gloucestershire Primary School,
I can see how positive changes make a difference to the lives of
children. If I can’t see it, they are always very quick to tell me
about the good things in their lives. I want to bring this to the
Coaltion and make sure the voice of the youngest people in
our county are heard. To have the opportunity to listen, first
and foremost, to children and young people about what
matters most to them and then have the opportunity to work
hard together to make a difference, is a challenge that leaders
of schools across the county and I are ready to embrace.

Julie Fellows, Headteacher of Fairford School and
representative of the Gloucestershire Association
of Primary Headteachers (GAPH)

There is nothing more important than giving children the best
start in life. Their today is our tomorrow and the care and
investment we make now will lead to confident and aspiring
young people and thriving adults. This contributes to an
aspiring and thriving community. Child Friendly
Gloucestershire is a way to bring this ambition to life and I am
delighted to be part of this change programme.

Baroness Rennie Fritchie, Independent Member

After 30 years as an English teacher in a variety of secondary
schools, I am still amazed by our young people. Their
resilience, their passion and their dedication is
outstanding.Now more than ever. My hope from Child Friendly
Gloucestershire is that all young people see a tangible
difference to their lives here and that future generations build
on the work we start now.

Kirsten Harrison, Representative of the
Gloucestershire Association of Secondary
Headteachers (GASH) & Acting Head of Education
for Gloucestershire

I joined the Coalition because I believe we should try to give all
young people the best possible start in life. After years of
working in the public sector in both health and local
government, I understand that so many organisations want to
do their best but sometimes don’t join up their work. I am
hoping I can help foster stronger partnership working through
the Coalition. Away from this, I enjoy looking after my bees,
brass bands and rare breed sheep!

Amanda Deeks, Independent Member

Page 26



Dr
aft

Compared to some of the other Board members I am relatively
new to Gloucestershire. However, my commitment to the
county is clear and our young people are vital to our success
and future growth. What I am enjoying about starting
somewhere new is that I see the county through the eyes of
my young grandchildren. Listening to them and seeing them
respond to things that many take for granted is a great way to
shape my thoughts and work in the future. 

Rhiannon Kirk, Assistant Chief Constable,
Gloucestershire Constabulary

I have worked in the third sector for more years than I want to
admit! But my time has shown the important role charity and
not-for-profit organisations have in getting the voice of young
people heard, especially those hard-to-reach voices.Now
more than ever, this is vital to the work going on across the
county. I believe actions speak louder than words and I look
forward to bringing the Child Friendly Gloucestershire agenda
to life.

Matt Leonard, Chief Officer, VCS Alliance

I am a Gloucestershire girl, born and bred. After moving
around the UK for education and work, I came back to
Gloucester for family reasons and now I can’t imagine living
anywhere else. I have worked with young people throughout
my career and want to support those in Gloucestershire during
times of difficulty. I hope to bring a different voice to the
Coalition to make sure all young people are represented.

Elaine Pearson-Scott, Service Manager and Chief
Executive Officer, Night Stop Gloucestershire

I am an optimist and I believe that change for the greater good
is possible. It sometimes happens more slowly than some
would like but for change to be effective, it has to be right. This
is so true for our young people. When they need our help, we
need to be sure they are heard, understood and able to access
what they need, when they need it. This is fundamental to
building a brighter future for them and future generations.

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer,
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

P A G E  1 6 Page 27



P A G E  1 7

Dr
aft

I'm an avid Birmingham City fan but left behind my beloved
hometown to join Cheltenham Borough Homes (CBH) in 2012,
going on to become its CEO. As a dad of two young children,
one of the great things about moving to Gloucestershire is that
it is an amazing county to grow up in. However, my twelve
years in the housing sector have taught me that there isn’t a
level playing field of opportunity for all children. I want every
child in the county to have the same opportunities to be what
they want to be and that is why I want to be part of the Board
of Child Friendly Gloucestershire.

Steve Slater, CEO Cheltenham Borough Homes

In my experience strong working relations, collaboration and
integration are vital to success. This is why I am so excited
about the opportunities the Child Friendly Gloucestershire
Coalition presents. In my role, I see the benefits true
collaboration brings and I hope I can bring this skill and
experience to help the Coalition drive the agenda forward.

P A G E  6 Sarah Scott, Exectuive Director of Adult Social
Care and Public Health, Gloucestershire County
Council

As a Gloucestershire resident for more than 40 years, my
children have been born and bred in the county. They attended
local schools which has served them well and I understand the
difference the right educational environment can make to a
child.  I also understand just how important a positive
childhood is. All children deserve the best possible start in life
and I look forward to the opportunity the Coalition brings to
make this happen for all our young people. 

Chris Spencer, Director of Children's Services,
Gloucestershire County Council

Page 28



P A G E  1 8

Dr
aft

It is a privilege to chair the Coalition and bring such a talented
group together for the greater good. We can achieve so much
more by working together and a collaborative style is one of
the skills I am hoping to bring to the Coalition.I have been
involved in working with young people for most of my adult life
and I firmly believe that all deserve the best possible start in
life. I also consider that as a community we should help them
to be the best that they can be. I look forward to working with
the other Coalition members on making a real and tangible
difference to our children and young people.

Dame Janet Trotter, Chair of Child Friendly
Gloucestershire

God has always been part of my life. As a student I volunteered
with the Missions to Seafarers first in Rotterdam and then in
Fremantle, Western Australia, meeting seafarers of all nations
and faiths. In 2010 I moved with my wife and two children to
Gloucestershire to become Archdeacon of Cheltenham. During
my time here I have been able to develop my commitment to
children through my work with schools and I am currently the
Chair of the Diocesan Board of Education and a trustee of All
Saints Academy in Cheltenham.

Bishop Robert Springett, Bishop of Tewkesbury,
Diocese of Gloucester

Other members of the Child Friendly Gloucestershire team:
Andy Dempsey (CFG Lead Officer)
More than 30 years working in a wide range of local authority
roles and partnership arrangements has taught me the value
of working together.  In my current role as the Director of
Partnerships and Strategy for Gloucestershire County Council
Children’s Services, I hope to strengthen and grow the
relationships already in action across the county.

Nigel Hatten (Business Manager)
Having grown up in Gloucestershire, being a father of four and
having had a career safeguarding young people in the county I
am dedicated to continue improving services for young people.
To improve services we must all come together and listen to
what young people have to say and I am delighted that the
coalition is committed to this vision.
Kim Brierley (Communications)
As a mum of two young children, I believe the work Child
Friendly Gloucestershire is doing is invaluable.  I have worked
in the communications industry for more than 15 years and I'm
hoping to help the Coalition really find and listen to the voice of
all young people.

Page 29



www.childfriendlygloucestershire.com

@ChildFriendlyGL

@childfriendlygloucestershire

childfriendlygloucestershire

Page 30



1

Action on ACEs –update for the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Highlights
The ACEs panel resumed regular meetings in September 2020 after a pause through the first phase 
of the pandemic. The focus has been on continuing momentum in the programme with a view to 
responding to the impact of the pandemic on vulnerable children and adults, and building on the 
examples of individual and community resilience which the county has seen. 

In May, the Action on ACEs programme held an Ambassadors Networking event offering an 
opportunity to engage with the 135 plus current Ambassadors across social care, early years, the VCS 
and education sectors. This was followed by the annual ACEs conference in June (ran jointly with 
education colleagues) which attracted 487 delegates. The conference focused on the importance of 
resilience as a protective factor against the impact of ACEs. 

Work is also underway to: 
- roll out a pilot of trauma informed training for the VCS sector in conjunction with the Nelson 

Trust; 
- introduce Trauma Informed Relational Practice training for schools and GCC; and 
- develop mentoring support for vulnerable girls and young women (funded through the CHK 

Foundation). 

Inequalities
Our socio-economic circumstances and life chances have a bearing on our likelihood of experiencing 
ACEs and our resilience. Addressing the causes and impact of ACEs can help contribute to reducing 
inequalities. Locally the pandemic is encouraging a renewed system wider focus on addressing 
inequalities, and it is important that we embed an ACE aware and trauma informed approach as part 
of this.

Next steps
The panel is currently overseeing a refresh of the current ACEs strategy and accompanying action 
plan. The refresh will reflect on our learning to date and the developing evidence base around ACEs. 

Priorities for the next phase include: 
- continuing to develop our approach to trauma informed practice in the county, building on 

work already happening in the education, early years and voluntary sector; and 
- extending our focus to look at the impacts of ACEs in adulthood and the role of a trauma 

informed approach in building resilience.

Page 31

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Action on ACEs Conference  

From ACEs to Resilience 
10 June 2021 Online 0930-1500 

P
age 33



• First Action on ACEs conference 

held in 2018 in Cheltenham with 

250 delegates  

 

• Second conference set for June 

2020, deferred due to Covid19 

pandemic 

 

• Decision made to move to 

virtual conference June 2021 

Background 

P
age 34



• Event Governance through Action on 

ACEs panel 

 

• Event built in virtual environment using 

event management company who built 

the event platform and managed 

technical delivery 

 

• Platform funded by Public Health and 

GCC Education (£12800.00) 

 

• Event and all marketing 

communications delivered by Police 

Communications team (2 full time staff 

for 7 weeks plus Police design, 

videography, digital communications 

services) & Action on ACEs core team 

Delivery 

P
age 35



Event overview 

• Introduction from Professor Sarah 

Scott and welcomes from Chief 

Constable Rod Hansen, Chris 

Spencer, Pete Bungard, Mary Hutton 

and more 

 

• 4 main speakers sessions from 

Professor Mark Bellis, The Nelson 

Trust, a team of Trauma Informed 

Relational Practice Experts & Jaz 

Ampaw Farr 

 

• 7 workshops from Education, Know 

Your Patch, Housing, Sport, Charity & 

Community organisations 

 
(Full agenda can be seen here and you can watch all sessions from  

the event here) 

 

P
age 36

https://www.actionaces.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Aces-Conference-Agenda.pdf
https://www.actionaces.org/conference/2021-conference-roundup/


Event impact 

• 497 delegates attended the conference 

 

• Attendees from range of sectors; statutory, voluntary, 

community 

 

• 100% of delegates rated the conference overall as 

excellent (89%) or very good (11%) 

 

• 100% of delegates felt energized as a result of the 

conference to join the AoA movement and take action 

on ACEs to a great (65%) or good extent (35%) 

 

• 100% of delegates expected to use what they had 

learnt at the conference in their work always (42%) or 

often (58%) 

 
(Evaluation can be read here) 

 

P
age 37

https://www.actionaces.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Aces-Conference-Evaluation-2021.pdf


SWOT 

Strengths 

 

• Outstanding event 

• Huge interest in tackling ACEs, 

particularly from schools in county 

• Significant profile raising event for AoA, 

restorative and relational practice 

• Combined AoA and GCC Education 

conference (cost savings for both delivery 

and delegates) 

 

Weaknesses 

 

• Lack of agreed AoA funding 

• Unsustainable delivery model 

 (For 2018 conference, AoA employed  a   

communications agency to deliver the event. 

For 2021, this fell to Police communications 

team for 7 weeks full time commitment of 2 

members of staff) 

 

Opportunities 

 

• Significant appetite for tackling ACEs and 

restorative practice in schools and wider 

community 

• 2022 face to face conference combining 

education and AoA conference 

Threats 

 

• Lack of agreed funding for AoA may 

jeopardise ability to deliver 2022 

conference and wider ambitions of the 

movement 

P
age 38



Next steps 

• Development work within AoA 

sub-groups (Education, 

Communities, Communications) 

building on conference findings 

including launch of strategy 

refresh 

 

• Agree funding model for 2022 

event across AoA partners 

 

• Agree delivery team and roles 

and responsibilities 

 

• Start planning! 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Update on the implementation of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Public Health and Adult 
Social Care

Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health 
Organisation Gloucestershire County Council 
Key Issues:  
On 20th September 2020, the Board received an update on each of the seven 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy priorities. It is acknowledged 
that each of the priorities are at a different stage of development. The delivery 
on all of the seven priorities has undoubtedly been impacted in some way by 
the pandemic. 

This report provides a summary update on progress for each of the priorities. 
It is important to be mindful that each of these priorities were selected due to 
the potential for the Health and Wellbeing Board to be able to add value. The 
focus for each of the priorities needs to remain on what can only be tackled in 
partnership.

Recommendations to Board: 

The Board is invited to:
1. Acknowledge the progress made against each of the priorities and the 

next steps outlined. 
2. Consider the recommendation that a dashboard is developed to 

monitor performance against a range of indicators for each of the 
priorities.

3. Discuss and agree the frequency and format for of reporting against 
each priority to enable the Health and Wellbeing Board to monitor 
progress. 

Financial/Resource Implications: 
None identified 

Page 41

Agenda Item 12



Update on the implementation of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
priorities

July 2021

1. Introduction
On 20th September 2020, the Board received an update on each of the seven 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy priorities. It is acknowledged that 
each of the priorities are at a different stage of development. The delivery on all of 
the seven priorities has undoubtedly been impacted in some way by the pandemic. 

This report provides a summary update on progress for each of the priorities. It is 
important to be mindful that each of these priorities were selected due to the 
potential for the Health and Wellbeing Board to be able to add value. The focus for 
each of the priorities needs to remain on what can only be tackled in partnership.

Furthermore, there is a commitment addressing health inequalities through each of 
the priorities and this is highlighted in the summary below. 

2. Physical activity
2.1 Highlights of progress
This priority is delivered through ‘We can move’ which is facilitated by Active 
Gloucestershire and has been developed through extensive research and 
consultation.

Though challenging, the pandemic has provided the opportunity to test new 
approaches and to strengthen partnerships. During the year supporting ‘we can 
move’, and in partnership with Sport England, Active Gloucestershire has allocated 
grants totalling £150,000 to organisations working to address health inequalities 
using physical activity. A further phase of this work is expected, with a similar 
budget, in the next few months. The project has supported strong levels of 
community action, such as the work being undertaken by Get Moving Waddon and 
Abbeymead Rovers walking football team. The grant programme has been delivered 
alongside the newly created Gloucestershire Funders group.
 
During periods of lockdown some programmes were delivered on-line or amended. 
For example, projects such as ‘Fall Proof’ has been adapted so that materials have 
been distributed at vaccination centres. The Fall Proof approach has now been 
picked up and used in other regions across England. The CCG and Active 
Gloucestershire have been working in partnership to deliver a ‘we can move’ pilot 
programme for people waiting for treatment for Pain called ‘It’s Your Move’. Results 
so far have been very positive and the work has been highlighted by the British 
Journal of General Practice.  A further phase has now been agreed and we are 

Page 42

https://www.gloucester.anglican.org/2021/get-moving-whaddon/
https://glosfunders.org/
https://bjgplife.com/2021/05/12/tackling-pain-with-exercise-its-your-move/
https://bjgplife.com/2021/05/12/tackling-pain-with-exercise-its-your-move/


exploring how this can be scaled whilst working alongside other approaches such as 
social prescribing and exercise on referral. Working with the Forest of Dean and 
Stroud District Council we’re testing a referral platform ‘Refer All’ with a view to 
offering it across the county.
  
Work with schools, children and young people has been challenged by periods of 
home schooling. However, some programmes have been delivered online, this has 
included innovative approaches such as yoga skills training for teachers delivered in 
partnership with Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning. This work is ongoing 
and from September there are plans to work with schools to test the Creating Active 
Schools Framework  alongside tested approaches such as The Daily Mile. Active 
Gloucestershire have recently been awarded circa £150,000 to provide grants for 
schools to open their facilities for community use following the pandemic, grants will 
focus on areas with the greatest health inequalities. The CCG and Active 
Gloucestershire are working in partnership to deliver a ‘we can move’ project for 
social prescribing aimed at children and young people which will support the work of 
the Mental Health Trail-blazer schools, the first referrals have now been received 
and the work will scale over the next twelve months.
 
Skills and learning have been delivered mainly online, this has included ‘we can 
move’ behaviour change workshops delivered in partnership with Healthy Lifestyles 
Gloucestershire. The next course is running on the 27th July. Systems work has 
included supporting districts to map their physical activity system, helping decision 
making, and providing support for commissioning the county wide Holiday Activity 
and Food Programme.
 
‘We can move’ takes an iterative and learning approach supported by evaluation 
partner ARC West. An evaluation has recently been completed of the first phase of 
‘we can move’, the full evaluation is available on request. The approaches to 
evaluation have been shared locally as well as nationally and are being adopted by 
several other organisations. Whilst undertaking the evaluation ARC West highlighted 
the work by the Gloucestershire health and wellbeing system in support of ‘we can 
move’, this has contributed to a report by the International Society for Physical 
Activity and Health about eight investments that work.

2.2 Addressing inequalities
As part of ‘we can move’, Gloucester Community Building Collective CIC have been 
using strength and Asset Based Community Development (ABCD) approaches to 
encouraging physical activity in Gloucester City, this has included a small community 
grants scheme. This work is due to continue for a further twelve months with an 
evaluation from ARC West reporting in October 2021. Findings will be shared with 
other areas in the county using strength and ABCD approaches to influence practice.

Page 43

https://youtu.be/7JLbjqJArYU
https://youtu.be/7JLbjqJArYU
https://wecanmove.net/campaign/daily-mile
https://hlsglos.org/
https://hlsglos.org/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/holiday-activities-and-food-programme/holiday-activities-and-food-programme-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/holiday-activities-and-food-programme/holiday-activities-and-food-programme-2021
https://www.ispah.org/resources/key-resources/8-investments/
https://www.ispah.org/resources/key-resources/8-investments/
https://arc-w.nihr.ac.uk/news/experts-release-eight-investments-that-work-for-physical-activity-to-enable-everyone-everywhere-to-be-physically-active/
https://www.gloscommunitybuilding.co.uk/
https://arc-w.nihr.ac.uk/news/experts-release-eight-investments-that-work-for-physical-activity-to-enable-everyone-everywhere-to-be-physically-active/


2.3 Next steps
‘We can move’ will continue to deliver against this priority in line with the overarching 
theory of change and continuous development and refinement contributed to by the 
iterative, learning nature of the work. The Programme Group has been expanded to 
include representation from each of the six district councils alongside Active 
Gloucestershire, CCG and Gloucestershire County Council and recently signed off 
the strategy and business plans for the next phase of the work. Alongside this ‘we 
can move’ continues to partner and contribute to system wide priorities and pieces of 
work, sharing learning, offering support and looking for opportunities to collaborate.

3. Action on ACEs (Adverse Childhood Experiences)
3.1 Highlights of progress
The Gloucestershire ACEs Panel leads on the ACEs Strategy and reports to the 
Health and Wellbeing.

The ACEs panel resumed regular meetings in September 2020 after a pause 
through the first phase of the pandemic. The focus has been on continuing 
momentum in the programme with a view to responding to the impact of the 
pandemic on vulnerable children and adults, and building on the examples of 
individual and community resilience which the county has seen. 

In May, the Action on ACEs programme held an Ambassadors Networking event 
offering an opportunity to engage with the 135 plus current Ambassadors across 
social care, early years, the VCSE and education sectors. This was followed by the 
annual ACEs conference in June (ran jointly with education colleagues) which 
attracted 487 delegates. The conference focused on the importance of resilience as 
a protective factor against the impact of ACEs. 

Work is also underway to: 
• Roll out a pilot of trauma informed training for the VCSE sector in conjunction 

with the Nelson Trust; 
• Introduce Trauma Informed Relational Practice training for schools and GCC; 

and 
• Develop mentoring support for vulnerable girls and young women. 

3.2 Addressing health inequalities
Our socio-economic circumstances and life chances have a bearing on our likelihood 
of experiencing ACEs and our resilience. Addressing the causes and impact of ACEs 
can help contribute to reducing inequalities. Locally the pandemic is encouraging a 
renewed system wider focus on addressing inequalities, and it is important that we 
embed an ACE aware and trauma informed approach as part of this.

Page 44



3.3 Next steps
The panel is currently overseeing a refresh of the current ACEs strategy and 
accompanying action plan. The refresh will reflect on our learning to date and the 
developing evidence base around ACEs. 

Priorities for the next phase include: 
• Continuing to develop our approach to trauma informed practice in the county, 

building on work already happening in the education, early years and voluntary 
sector; and 

• Extending our focus to look at the impacts of ACEs in adulthood and the role of a 
trauma informed approach in building resilience.

4. Mental Wellbeing
4.1 Highlights of progress
Delivery of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s strategic priority for mental wellbeing is 
aligned with the delivery of the county’s all age Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy which is overseen by the Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board. 
The Board meets on a quarterly basis and resumed meetings in November last year 
after a pause through the first phase of the pandemic.

The system wide focus on mental wellbeing over the last 15 months has largely 
focused on responding to the mental health impact of Covid-19. The response has 
been co-ordinated via the multi-agency Mental Health and Wellbeing Cell (chaired 
jointly by Public Health and the Clinical Commissioning Group) which provides 
informal reports into the Partnership Board. Highlights include:

- The launch of a new countywide campaign: ‘Be Well’ Gloucestershire to raise 
awareness of the mental health support available in the county

- Investment in additional early intervention mental health support for adults 
and children and young people and

- Work to model need and demand for mental health support in the county.

In addition, the last year has also seen the:
- Roll out of the new GloW (Gloucestershire wellbeing) community grants 

scheme aimed at supporting projects which reduce social isolation in 
vulnerable groups

- Provision of training to front line staff and volunteers to enable them to 
recognise the signs of mental ill health or crisis and respond appropriately

- Engagement work to support plans to transform how mental health services 
are provided in the community to improve joined up care and support recovery 
and 

- Ongoing investment in children and young people’s mental health via the 
Trailblazer programme.

Page 45



4.2 Addressing health inequalities
Poor mental health can be both a cause and a consequence of health inequalities. 
Addressing the wider determinants which contribute to poor mental wellbeing and 
reducing stigma are key focuses within the county’s mental health strategy. Recent 
work has focused on increasing our understanding of the experiences of individuals 
from Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups when accessing mental health 
services. An initial report has been produced, and it is planned to carry out wider 
consultation and engagement on the report recommendations which will in turn 
inform an action plan.  

4.3 Next steps
In the coming months, the Partnership Board will be working with members of the 
Mental Health and Wellbeing Cell to refresh the countywide strategy to reflect the 
impact of Covid-19 on mental health and wellbeing. Work will also be continuing on:

• The planned refresh of the county wide suicide prevention strategy and action 
plan;

• Continuing the review of the current sub-groups and work-streams under the 
main partnership board; and development of a dashboard to track progress 
against objectives.

It is also important that we look at opportunities for joint working across the Mental 
Health and Wellbeing priorities, recognising the range of social and environmental 
factors which impact on wellbeing; and how it relates to other aspects of our physical 
health and life chances. 

5. Social isolation and loneliness
5.1 Highlights of progress
Tackling social isolation and loneliness is a joint priority between Safer 
Gloucestershire and the Health and Wellbeing Board. A deep dive was undertaken in 
2019 and reported back to the Health and Wellbeing Board. Since then, some 
preliminary work has been conducted to scope the actions required to deliver this 
priority through Enabling Active Communities and Individuals (EAC-I). 

This preliminary work recognises that we do not need a ‘loneliness response’ but a 
community one that offers opportunities for the creation and development of 
meaningful relationships. Therefore, the proposed priority actions include:

• The engagement of people, neighbours and communities in recognising social 
isolation and loneliness and wanting to make a difference

• Planning support for children, young people, adults and older people through 
predictable life event transition points that can result in social isolation and 
loneliness

• The level of support statutory, community, voluntary and private sector 
organisations are able to provide to create opportunities for people to interact 
with each other

Page 46



• Resources available in both staff resource and monetary terms to implement 
the key objectives. 

5.2 Addressing health inequalities
Anyone can experience social isolation and loneliness. However, particular 
individuals or groups may be more vulnerable than others, depending on a number 
of factors including physical and mental health, migrant status, level of education, 
employment status, wealth, income, ethnicity, gender and age or life stage1. 

Social isolation is a health inequality issue because many of the associated risk 
factors are more prevalent among socially disadvantaged groups than the general 
population. Social disadvantage is linked to many of the life experiences that 
increase risk of social isolation, including poor maternal health, unemployment, and 
illness in later life.

Reducing social isolation across society will contribute to improving overall health 
and wellbeing, and to reducing health inequalities.

5.3 Next steps
The initial next step is to build a sponsoring group of advocates to oversee county-
wide actions and hear insights from community responses which will inform actions 
for collective focus. This group will:

• Shape the approach around a model of change
• Gather data and evidence to support actions and evaluation of progress
• Oversee communications including a campaign calendar and online 

resources in collaboration with Be Well Gloucestershire and community 
groups

• Identify staffing and financial resources available to support delivery of the 
plan

• Liaise with other Health and Wellbeing Board priority leads to ensure links are 
made across the themes. 

6. Healthy lifestyles – healthy weight
6.1 Highlights of progress
‘Healthy Weight’ is both a Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board and ICS 
priority. 

As previously reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board, there is a wide range of 
obesity prevention and weight management activity underway in Gloucestershire, 
including commissioned interventions and community-led activities. There is also 

1 Institute of Health Equity (2015). Local Action on Health Inequalities: Reducing Social Isolation Across the 
Lifecourse [Online] Available from: https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/local-action-
on-health-inequalities-reducing-social-isolation-across-the-lifecourse 

Page 47

https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/local-action-on-health-inequalities-reducing-social-isolation-across-the-lifecourse
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/local-action-on-health-inequalities-reducing-social-isolation-across-the-lifecourse


considerable scope for other strategic priorities to contribute towards reducing 
obesity. However, if we are to make a tangible difference at a population level these 
agendas and opportunities need to be joined up. The evidence recommends that this 
is achieved through ‘whole systems’ working, which brings multiple stakeholders 
together to integrate action to bring about change. This requires systems leadership 
and should combine effective preventive action to tackle the social, economic and 
environmental drivers of obesity with weight management treatment for those 
already affected. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board has the opportunity to be the senior driving force 
behind this change by leading work across the system and linking across the priority 
areas (e.g. mental wellbeing, physical activity, best start in life) and with wider work 
to mitigate health inequalities. 

This direction of travel has been approved by the Board. However, the Board is 
aware that additional resources are needed for practitioner support to implement the 
approach. [A crude estimate of around £100 - £125k per annum is required to initially 
develop the approach in one or two districts]. This resource has not yet been 
secured.  

Much of the development work in this area has been paused over recent months as 
officers were redeployed to work on the response to COVID-19. However, the 
following progress has been made:

6.1.1 Adults’ weight management 
• Introduction of a digital weight management offer (provided by WW) as an 

alternative referral option while face-to-face Slimming World provision was 
paused in line with Government guidance. Face-to-face provision is now 
reinstated and the digital offer will remain in place as an alternative

• Work in train to invest non-recurrent DHSC funding (£189k) to develop and test 
an enhanced Tier 2 weight management offer for adults whose needs are not met 
by current Tier 2 offers but do not meet thresholds for Tier 3

• Local partners are collaborating to ensure that the new national weight 
management offers being introduced into primary care under the NHS Long Term 
Plan is properly integrated with existing provision.

6.1.2 Children’s weight management
• Continuation of the children’s Tier 2 weight management pilot (provided by 

BeeZee Bodies); a digital offer was developed to support families during 
lockdown and face-to-face delivery will be resumed in September

• Development of the local Tier 2 offer has continued. We are consolidating our 
learning in use of the locally developed ‘Structural Resilience’ framework, which 
enables us to adapt the offer for families with complex needs and this approach is 
now receiving regional and national recognition

Page 48



• Two bids have been submitted for national funding (non-recurrent); the first aims 
to enhance and extend the Tier 2 offer; and the second to pilot an integrated Tier 
2 and Tier 3 offer for children and young people (outcomes of both bids expected 
imminently).

6.2 Addressing health inequalities
It is also a health inequalities issue, affecting twice as many children living in our 
most deprived areas, compared to those from the least deprived areas, and over the 
last decade this gap has widened.  People with disabilities, mental health conditions, 
and those from ethnic minority communities are also more likely to be affected. 
National evidence suggests that Covid-19 has exacerbated obesity-related health 
inequalities but until we have another complete year of child measurement data we 
will not fully understand this impact locally. 

6.3 Next steps
The following work will be taken forward within existing resources:
• Completion of the Tier 2 children’s weight management pilot and evaluation; and 

finalising the business case for recurrent investment from 2022
• Updating the local needs and assets assessment to understand the impact of 

COVID-19 on local obesity levels, associated inequalities, and opportunities to 
involve communities in delivery.

Further work will be needed to identify and secure the resources needed to 
implement the whole systems approach to obesity prevention.  

7. Early years and Best Start in Life
7.1 Highlights of progress
Further to the update prepared in September 2020 (available here HWB Best Start in 
Life 12.9.20 FINAL.pdf (gloucestershire.gov.uk)), the Early Years sub group of the 
Child Friendly Gloucestershire initiative, continues to meet as a system-wide 
partnership, to progress this priority.  

Child Friendly Gloucestershire have created a plan alongside the priorities of the 
Early Years service and the combined actions are:

• Mixed approaches to engage and consult with families to understand their 
experience of living in Gloucestershire, the support available to them, the barriers 
to support and existing gaps

• A particular focus on understanding the impact of COVID-19 on young children 
and families and new and emerging needs

• Addressing the attainment gaps for children eligible for school meals and children 
from ethnic minority communities, the attainment gap for both cohorts in 
Gloucestershire is significantly higher than the England average

Page 49

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s65017/HWB%20Best%20Start%20in%20Life%2012.9.20%20FINAL.pdf#_blank
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s65017/HWB%20Best%20Start%20in%20Life%2012.9.20%20FINAL.pdf#_blank


• Supporting good transitions to school and supporting schools to ensure that 
children receive good quality teaching, learning and play experiences in their 
reception year enabling them be safely included and to make good progress

• Ensuring that our most vulnerable children (pre-birth to 5) have access to 
universal and targeted provision within their communities to enable parents to be 
confident in supporting their child’s development, and giving all children the best 
start in life

• Having systems in place to identify and support children with additional 
needs/special educational needs (SEN) as early as possible, providing a higher 
level of intervention for children with the most complex needs

• Engage families that are commonly hardest to reach to ensure they have access 
to non-judgemental support

• Focus on ensuring services, attitudes and messages are accessible to dads.
• Increase the uptake of free child care for eligible two-year olds (from 71% to 75% 

over next 12 months) and two-year-old development checks by health visitors for 
those most vulnerable

• Work in partnership with community projects and groups to ensure there is a 
robust offer of effective universal support for parents and babies/toddlers across 
the county

• Develop a set of measurable outcomes to monitor impact.

7.2 Addressing health inequalities
As indicated above there is evidence of concerning health inequalities between sub 
groups of the population in Gloucestershire including those from Black, Asian and 
minority ethnic groups, those eligible for free school meals (an indicator of socio-
economic disadvantage), and those with additional needs.  The approach taken is 
that of ‘proportional universalism’, where the majority of interventions are universal 
and accessible to all, however particular focus and support is targeted to those 
whom are more disadvantaged.

7.3 Next steps
We will continue to progress work against this action plan and update the Health and 
Wellbeing Board accordingly.

8. Housing and health 
8.1 Highlights of progress
This priority focuses on three key areas:

i. Ensuring new housing development promotes good health and wellbeing
ii. Bringing existing housing stock conditions up to standard
iii. Providing a diverse housing offer.

Page 50



8.1.1 Progress on ensuring that new housing development promotes health and 
wellbeing
• The Health Impact Assessment (HIA) Framework has been included as a 

resource in the Gloucestershire Health Inequalities Toolkit
• Continued influence of Local Plans (Responses to consultations and engagement 

with local plans) where there is capacity to do so
• A resource for local authorities on planning healthier places has been developed 

by PHE to support public health and planning professionals showcase exemplar 
schemes; it includes an example from Gloucestershire on how to embed health 
and wellbeing into neighbourhood plans.  

• There has been limited progress with respect to engaging with the Development 
Industry due to capacity to support this work

8.1.2 Progress on bringing existing housing stock conditions up to standard
• Leadership development workshop held (13 March 2020), leading to revisions in 

the SHP and the further commissioning of governance review (September – 
December 2020) and implementation of revised proposals

• Appointment of a programme team (DFG funded) to provide management 
capacity 

• Building links between housing and health through the Gloucester Integrated 
Locality Partnership 

• Stock condition survey progressed.

8.1.3 Progress on providing a diverse housing offer
• Housing with care strategy established – producing a range of accommodation 

for people in the county to help them remain independent and lead fulfilling lives
• Homeshare Scheme established. This a scheme for matching two people who 

will benefit from living together one offering their home, one providing 10 hours 
help per week. Currently there have been seven matches in Gloucestershire, 
increased interest following lockdown  

• Warm & Well Scheme; and Park Homes Improvement Programme progress. An 
additional £2m has been accessed from the Green Homes Grant in two separate 
awards for additional park home improvement and to improve rural off-gas 
properties

• Officers have been appointed to support frailty project and hospital discharge into 
suitable accommodation. This is already having success in ensuring people 
maintain their independence. Significant savings to the social care budget and 
accommodation available for others.

8.2 Next steps
8.2.1 Ensuring that new housing development promotes health and wellbeing
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) Framework:

Page 51

file://svrshir157/zclifford$/Desktop/A%20resource%20for%20local%20authorities%20on%20planning%20healthier%20places%20%20https:/assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/951310/GRIP2_PHE_national_resources_151220_for_Gateway_2.pdf


• Finalise Health Impact Assessment (HIA) Framework. Then conduct pilot 
sessions and evaluate effectiveness of framework. Review evaluation and agree 
implementation/training/support plan

• Progress Planning Healthy Places COP. This includes confirming resource to 
administer COP and agree schedule of events

• Influence Local Plans through the process by evaluating effectiveness of 
response template and reviewing how responses have impacted Local Plans and 
local developments. 

8.2.2 Bringing existing housing stock conditions up to standard
• Join up Health, Social Care and Housing Data
• Housing Conditions Survey to be progressed
• Continue to build links between housing and health through the Gloucester pilot
• Leadership Development across the Strategic Housing Partnership.

8.2.3 Providing a diverse housing offer
• Expand the Homeshare Scheme with increased numbers sharing. Work with Age 

UK on Community circles scheme to increase support for people and combat 
loneliness. 

• Warm & Well Scheme; and Park Homes Improvement Programme will aim to 
insulate over 150 park homes and provide air source heat pumps to properties 
without gas in rural areas  

• Further work to look at suitability of accommodation and increased range. 
Ensuring people can live independently for longer. Further development of tech 
and equipment solutions to enable people to remain at home

• Greater support for hospital discharge where housing is an issue
• Compile register of adapted properties
• Increase use of existing extra care housing in county
• Implement housing with care strategy, developing further the range of provision
• Specific project focusing on fuel poverty in areas to address health inequalities. 

Urban and rural pilot projects to reduce cold homes and improve residents’ 
physical and mental health  

• Work with ethnic minority communities to address inequalities issues and access 
to services.

9. Conclusion and discussion points
The preceding summary of each of the Health and Wellbeing Board priorities 
illustrates progress made since last September and how each priority will be 
progressed. It would be useful for the Board to consider the following:

 High level indicators are included in the Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy. 
However, it is proposed that this needs to be developed further with a 
dashboard to monitor performance against a range of indicators for each of 
the priorities.

Page 52



 This report provides a summary of updates on progress for each of the 
priorities. In order for the Board to continue to monitor progress, the frequency 
and format of report against each of the priorities needs to be decided. 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	9 Health Inequalities Update
	10 Child Friendly Gloucestershire
	CFG V6 PDF

	11 ACEs Update
	Action on ACEs conference ppt for HWBB

	12 Update on the implementation of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy

